RECEIVED COA#44852-FJ SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 01, 2012, 4:50 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 87187-6

RECEIVED BY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GLENDA NISSEN, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, a public agency; PIERCE COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE, a public agency,

Respondent,

v.

PROSECUTOR MARK LINDQUIST,

Intervenor/Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michele Earl-Hubbard, WSBA #26454 Allied Law Group P.O. Box 33744 Seattle, WA 98133 Phone (206) 443-0200 Fax: (206) 428-7169



DORIGINAL

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Glenda Nissen ("Nissen") is a Detective with the Pierce

County Sheriff's Department ("Sheriff's Department") and a member of

the Pierce County Deputy Sheriffs Independent Guild ("Guild"). CP 4-5,

14. She has been employed by the Sheriff's Department since 1997, and

was promoted to Detective since 2000. CP 14. Nissen has received excellent performance reviews during her tenure at the Sheriff's Department. CP 14. When the current prosecutor Mark Lindquist ran for election, Nissen did not support him as a candidate. CP 14. Lindquist was and is aware of Nissen's lack of support for him as a candidate and her opposition to his conduct as the Prosecutor. CP 14. When Lindquist was running for election as Prosecutor, he was not endorsed by the Guild. CP 5. Lindquist called Guild attorney Leann Paluck inquiring about Nissen's participation in the Guild's position not to endorse him. <u>Id.</u> He called Paluck from what he now describes as his personal cell phone number and is the number at which he had previously left for Paluck to return his calls. Id.

After being elected, Lindquist accused Nissen of sending a threatening letter to a deputy prosecutor on June 7, 2010. CP 67-72. The saliva on the envelope was determined to be male and did not match Nissen who is female (CP 70), Nissen passed a polygraph consistent with her affirmation she not send the threat and does not know who did (CP 70), she produced all of her personal cell phone records and cooperated fully with the investigation, and yet Lindquist tried to have her charged criminally as the sender of the letter and did not pursue any other suspect. CP 67-70. A number of witnesses have suspected Lindquist himself sent

the letter, as the DNA on the envelope was male, Lindquist is a published crime novelist who used the word "naughty" just as the threatening letter here uses, and who had a criminal character in his book send a letter to a prosecutor using misspellings as the author of the letter here used. CP 70-71. The Tacoma News Tribune ran an online news story on August 2, 2011, revealing that the investigation had never verified a suspect, but later someone believed to be Lindquist had that sentence removed from the printed version in the newspaper the following day. CP 68. Nissen contends Lindquist falsely targeted her as retaliation for her lack of support of him as a candidate and prosecutor. Nissen filed a whistleblower claim and a mediation was held to resolve the claim on July 26, 2011. CP 5-8, 22.

Lindquist has a County-provided cell phone that he chooses to use only rarely, preferring to use his "personal" cell phone for work business. CP 5-8, 24. Records of his County-provided cell phone were produced in a whistleblower complaint mediation on July 26, 2011, and showed less than 10 minutes of use a month of the County-provided cell phone. CP 6-8, 24. Lindquist was told by the County and mediator that the fact that he used his personal phone for agency business meant he would be required to produce his personal cell phone records. CP 8, 25. Ladenburg, acting as mediator in the mediation, informed Nissen and her counsel that this

was a "hard lesson for Lindquist to learn." CP 8, 23, 25. The County committed to produce the records of the personal cell phone that was used during that mediation (CP 6) and heavily redacted copies were eventually produced. CP 25, 32-36. The redacted bills shows nine work-related calls of 41 total minutes on August 3, 2011, thirteen calls of 72 total minutes on August 2, 2011, and ten calls of 46 total minutes on June 7, 2010. CP 25-26, 32-36. The production acknowledged the existence of at least 16 work related texts on August 2nd and 3rd, 2011, the dates when someone succeeded in having the Tacoma News Tribune omit from its news story the fact that no suspect had ever been verified regarding the June 2010 threat letter, but only the date time and partial phone numbers were produced, not the actual text message or sender or recipient. CP 26, 40, 63-64. The personal cell phone will be described as 253-861-XXX or the 861 phone. CP 15, 23.

Nissen settled her whistleblower case against Lindquist for payment by the County of nearly \$40,000. CP 22-23, 37-38. Following the settlement, Lindquist and his office engaged in further conduct Nissen reported to Pierce County Human Resources as retaliatory misconduct. CP 23. Lindquist has called Nissen's attorney Joan Mell from his personal cell phone to discuss Nissen's case against him and his office. CP 23.

Mell produced copies of her own phone records showing the calls placed

to her were from the 253-861-XXX number. CP 23, 28.

Nissen through her attorney Mell made a PRA request on August

3, 2011, asking for the following:

any and all of Mark Lindquist's cellular telephone records for number 253-861-[redacted herein but stated in the records' request] or any other cellular telephone he uses to conduct his business including text messages from August 2, 2011.

CP 15. Nissen is seeking complete disclosure of records related to the

phone Lindquist does use to support her retaliation claims. CP 8.

The County responded by letter on August 10, 2011, estimating it

would be able to provide information regarding the request within one

week. CP 15. Via letter dated August 17, 2011, the County wrote stating

it would take an additional two weeks to "complete the process." CP 15.

On August 31, 2011, the County wrote stating:

We are waiting to receive records from telephone providers and do not know when they will arrive. We are hopeful that the information will be received within two (2) weeks, but will let you know if the information becomes available sooner.

CP 15. The first installment of records was produced on September 16,

2011. CP 16. On September 28, 2011, the County wrote stating:

At this time, I am prepared to release the second and final installment of Mr. Lindquist's personal cell phone records of phone calls and text messages that may be work-related, Pages 5-8.

CP 16. The letter was accompanied by an exemption log which sought to exempt several items based solely on RCW 42.56.50, the definition of "invasion of Privacy", but not itself an exemption. CP 16. The County also stated as exemptions, but without any statutory references, "nonpublic information, personal phone calls," "non-public information, last 4 digits of employee's personal phone number redacted," "residential or personal wireless phone numbers, last 4 digits redacted," "non-public personal phone calls," or "non-public personal text messages." CP 17. Redacted records were produced for this second installment.

On September 13, 2011, attorney Mell made a second PRA request on behalf of Nissen, asking for "Mark Lindquist's cellular telephone records for number 253-861-[redacted but listed in request] for June 7, [2010]. CP 17. (The original request had a typo stating the year as 2011, but the error was addressed through other communications with the records officer. Mell had requested these records previously but a series of communications had confused the request so Mell began with a fresh request on September 13, 2011. CP 17).

The County responded on September 19, 2011, with a two page exemption log again citing as the sole exemption the privacy definition RCW 42.56.050 and explanations such as non-public information,

personal phone calls, personal account invoice #, personal account payment due date, page # of personal account, detail of account holder and number, bars code, personal account control #, personal account copy # and personal account order #. CP 18. The County produced redacted records to Nissen.

Nissen filed suit on October 26, 2011, taking issue with the redaction of records in response to the August and September PRA requests and the lack of an appropriate exemption cited for the withholding. CP 13-21.

The County moved to strike all references in the court filings to the last four digits of Lindquist's personal cell phone number. Nissen objected citing the fact that Lindquist listed this cell phone number on his candidacy filing published on the Washington Secretary of State's website (CP 26, 41-42), and that the County identified it on a public record request log produced in response to a PRA request. CP 26, 39. On November 4, 2011, the Honorable Christine Pomeroy entered an order striking and sealing all references to Lindquist's cell phone number in any filings. CP 10-11.

Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss relying on facts outside the Complaint. On November 23, 2011, the trial court ordered that all discovery was stayed pending Defendants' Motion to Dismiss. CP 44.

On December 16, 2011, Nissen filed a Motion to Exclude or in the Alternative to Continue the dismissal motion pursuant to CR 12(b) and CR 56(f) arguing Defendants dismissal motion cited material outside of the Complaint and not subject to judicial notice and discovery had been stayed preventing Nissen from responding. CP 114-124. On December 23, 2011, the trial court granted Pierce County's Motion to Dismiss with no findings. CP 258-259.

On January 26, 2012, Nissen field an Amended Motion for Reconsideration. CP 408- 442. On February 28, 2012, the Court denied the Motion for reconsideration with no findings. CP 447. This appeal followed.

III. LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

A. This Case was Improperly Dismissed on a CR 12(b)(6) Motion.

The trial court here dismissed this PRA lawsuit on a CR 12(b)(6) Motion. This required the court to accept as true all facts pled in the Complaint. The trial court looked outside the Complaint and accepted declarations of the Defendants, while simultaneously staying discovery and denying Nissen the right to take discovery to probe the details of Defendants' offered evidence or to grant Nissen's CR 56(f) Motion for a continuance or to exclude Defendants' improper submissions. Because this was dismissed on a motion to dismiss, this Court must evaluate

whether the trial court was wrong to find the allegations in Nissen's Complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. Although the trial court's order provides no findings whatsoever to support its decision, the Reports of Proceeding show the trial court wrongly presumed an official's work-related texts sent from a cell phone for which he personally pays or the phone records related to that phone can never be ordered disclosed or deemed public records solely because the official pays the bill for the phone. This holding is in direct contradiction of numerous holdings of the appellate courts under the PRA and not supported by any published PRA decision.

B. Consideration of Matters Outside the Complaint Convert the Motion to Dismiss into a Motion for Summary Judgment, Necessitating Continuance.

CR 12(b) provides that consideration of matters outside the

complaint convert a motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment:

If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by rule 56.

Discovery was stayed in this matter to permit Defendant to bring the

Motion to Dismiss. Defendant then asserted during oral argument that it

did not possess any of the requested records at the time of the request and therefore that the Complaint should be dismissed. Det. Nissen should have been permitted to test these assertions before the court could take these facts into account, thereby converting the Motion to Dismiss into a motion for summary judgment. Because the trial court considered these facts, the Motion to Dismiss should have been continued pursuant to CR 12(b) and CR 56(f).

C. RCW 42.56.050 is Not a Stand-Alone Exemption to the PRA

Defendant claimed RCW 42.56.050, the definition of "privacy" in the PRA, as an exemption from disclosure. <u>See</u> CP 17 (Complaint ¶29) ("RCW 42.56.050 was the only exemption from disclosure claimed by the County for this request."). There simply is no generalized "privacy" exemption pursuant to RCW 42.56.050 or any other part of the PRA. While RCW 42.56.050 contains the test for establishing whether a right of privacy was violated, the test is to be applied when citing an exemption from disclosure, which RCW 42.56.050 is not. RCW 42.56.050 states:

> A person's "right to privacy," "right of privacy," "privacy," or "personal privacy," as these terms are used in this chapter, is invaded or violated only if disclosure of information about the person: (1) Would be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and (2) is not of legitimate concern to the public. The provisions of this chapter dealing with the right to privacy in certain public records do not create any right of privacy beyond those rights that are

specified in this chapter as express exemptions from the public's right to inspect, examine, or copy public records.

This is not a statutory exemption from disclosure. Every exemption provided for in the PRA details certain records as being "exempt" from disclosure.¹ The term "exempt" is notably absent from RCW 42.56.050 because RCW 42.56.050 is not an exemption from disclosure. It is just a definition.

The Legislature has even gone so far as to specifically overturn a case holding that there is a generalized privacy exemption to the PRA. In 1986, the Supreme Court held there was a generalized "privacy" exemption from disclosure in <u>In re Rosier</u>, 105 Wn.2d 606, 609, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986) ("the public disclosure law provides a general personal privacy exemption when disclosure of the pertinent records would involve an unreasonable invasion of privacy" and "RCW [42.56] clearly provides such an exemption").

Following **Rosier**, the Legislature specifically overruled the Supreme Court and stated:

The legislature intends to restore the law relating to the release of public records largely to that which existed prior to the Washington Supreme Court decision in "In Re Rosier," 105 Wn.2d 606 (1986). The intent of this legislation is to make clear that ... agencies having public

¹ <u>See, e.g.</u>, RCW 42.56.230, .240, .250, .260, .270, .280, .290, .300, .310, .320, .330, .340, .350, .360, .370, .380, 390, .400, .410, .420, .430, .440, .450, .460, .470, .480 (listing records "exempt" from disclosure under PRA).

records should rely only upon statutory exemptions or prohibitions for refusal to provide public records.

Laws of 1987, ch. 403, § 1, at 1546. The PAWS court recognized this

requirement to cite a specific statutory exemption from disclosure and

stated:

Indeed, the Legislature's response to our decision in **In re Rosier**, supra, establishes that the Public Records Act contains no general "vital governmental functions" exemption. In Rosier, this court interpreted general language in a procedural section of the Act concerning personal privacy to create a general personal privacy exemption.

Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. University of Washington

("**PAWS**"), 125 Wn.2d 243, 258, 884 P.2d 592 (1994).²

There simply is no stand-alone privacy exemption based on the

definition contained in 42.56.050. As the Attorney General's non-binding

Model Rules on Public Records state:

There is no general "privacy" exemption. Op. Att'y Gen. 12 (1988). However, a few specific exemptions incorporate privacy as one of the elements of the exemption. For example, personal information in agency employee files is exempt to the extent that disclosure would violate the employee's right to "privacy." RCW 42.56.210(1)(b). "Privacy" is then one of the elements, in addition to the others in RCW 42.56.210 (1)(b), that an agency or a third party resisting disclosure must prove.

 $^{^2}$ Similarly, though it has not been claimed as an exemption in this case, RCW 42.56.070 is also not an exemption from disclosure. Defendants incorrectly argued below that it authorizes the deletion of information from a document without also citing an exemption from disclosure.

"Privacy" is defined in RCW 42.56.050 as the disclosure of information that "(1) Would be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and (2) is not of legitimate concern to the public." This is a two-part test requiring the party seeking to prevent disclosure to prove both elements.

Because "privacy" is not a stand-alone exemption, an agency cannot claim RCW 42.56.050 as an exemption.

WAC 44-14-06002(2) (emphasis added) (internal footnotes and citations

to previous codifications of statutes omitted).³ See also PUBLIC RECORDS

ACT DESKBOOK: WASHINGTON'S PUBLIC DISCLOSURE ACT AND OPEN

PUBLIC MEETINGS ACT (Wash. State Bar Assoc. 2006) ("DESKBOOK") at

13-2⁴ ("Instead of a stand-alone 'privacy' exemption, the PRA

incorporates 'privacy' as one of the elements of other specific

exemptions."); Op. Att'y Gen. 12 (1988) at 3 (after Rosier, "The

Legislature clearly repudiated the notion that agencies could withhold

records based solely on general concerns about privacy. Agencies now

 ³ While technically "non-binding," several recent court decisions have adopted other provisions of the Model Rules. See, e.g., Beal v. City of Seattle, 150 Wn. App. 865, 876 (2009) ("While the model rules are not binding on the [agency] we agree that they contain persuasive reasoning.") (footnote omitted); O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 240 P.3d 1149; Burt v. Dept. of Corrections, 168 Wn.2d 828, 835, n.4 (2010); Mechling v. City of Monroe, 152 Wn. App. 830, 849 (2009); Rental Housing Ass'n of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 539 & 541 (2009); Soter v. Cowles Pub. Co., 162 Wn.2d 716, 753-4 (2007).
 ⁴ This chapter was written by Michele Earl-Hubbard, an attorney at Allied Law Group.

⁴ This chapter was written by Michele Earl-Hubbard, an attorney at Allied Law Group. However, the WSBA DESKBOOK does not contain the mere personal opinions of the authors: "This Deskbook is balanced and objective by design. Chapter authors include a Court of Appeals judge, agency attorneys, and requestor attorneys Each chapter was edited by a person from the 'other side.' For example, a chapter written by a requestor attorney was edited by an agency attorney. Finally, the Washington State Bar Association provided the final edits, applying their neutrality and accuracy standards." DESKBOOK at 1-3.

must first identify a statutory provision wherein the Legislature evidenced its intent to exempt the record from inspection by the public.").

Tiberino v. Spokane County, the case primarily relied upon by Defendants below to establish that the privacy test under RCW 42.56.050 was a stand-alone exemption, does not even involve a claim of exemption pursuant to 42.56.050, but rather RCW 42.56.230(1).⁵ Tiberino v. Spokane County, 103 Wn. App. 680, 688, 13 P.3d 1104 (2000). In Tiberino, the Spokane County withheld the content of emails based on RCW 42.56.230(1), a statutory exemption which exempts from disclosure "Personal information in files maintained for employees, appointees, or elected officials of any public agency to the extent that disclosure would violate their right to privacy." By referring to the "right to privacy," RCW 42.56.230(1) is one of the statutory exemptions that employ the privacy test found in 42.56.050. Therefore, in analyzing whether the disclosure would "violate the right to privacy" as stated in RCW 42.56.230(1), the court employed the test now found in 42.56.050 that "A person's right to privacy is violated 'only if disclosure of information about the person: (1) Would be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and (2) is not of legitimate concern to the public." <u>Tiberino</u>, 103 Wn. App. at 688. The **Tiberino** court employed the privacy test found in RCW 42.56.050 to

⁵ This section was recodified and was formerly RCW 42.17.310(1)(b) at the time of the **<u>Tiberino</u>** decision.

determine whether a specific exemption, RCW 42.56.230(1), applied to the emails in question. This is the proper application of RCW 42.56.050—using the definition of "privacy" to determine if the privacy element of an exemption applies to the records at issue.

.

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