RECEIVED SUPREME COURT AH4852-1-STATE OF WASHINGTON Mar 07, 2013, 8:53 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTE CLERK

NO. 87187-6

RECEIVED BY E-M

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GLENDA NISSEN, an individual, Appellant

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, a public agency; PIERCE COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE, a public agency, Respondent,

v.

PROSECUTOR MARK LINDQUIST, Intervenor/Respondent.

CORRECTED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PIERCE COUNTY

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

DANIEL R. HAMILTON Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

955 Tacoma Avenue South Suite 301 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7746

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

IV. ARGUMENT

,

A. Court Rules Limit Scope of Appellate Review and Require Affirmation of Trial Court

Appellate review requires filing a timely notice of appeal within 30 days after the entry of the contested order. *See* RAP 5.1; RAP 5.2(a). Though review of a judgment can be filed within 30 days of an order denying reconsideration, RAP 5.2(e)(1), an "untimely motion for reconsideration has no effect upon the commencement of time for filing an appeal in this court" so if parties do "not timely perfect their appeal, this court is without jurisdiction to review the merits." *Griffin v. Draper*, 32 Wn.App. 611, 125, 649 P.2d 123 (1982). *See also Schaefco, Inc. v. Columbia River Gorge Commission*, 121 Wn.2d 366, 367-68, 849 P.2d 1225 (1993) (since motion for reconsideration was untimely, it did not extend the 30-day limit for filing an appeal and so the appeal was untimely and dismissed).

Here, the order dismissing plaintiff's suit was entered December 23, 2011, CP 258, but she waited 13 days, until January 5, 2012, to move for its reconsideration. Supp. CP 633. Because a reconsideration motion "shall be filed not later than 10 days after the entry of the ... order," CR 59(b), plaintiff's motion was untimely and properly denied. *See e.g. Kaech v. Lewis County Public Utility Dist. No. 1*, 106 Wn.App. 260, 268, 23 P.3d

529 (2001) ("CR 59 service requirement is mandatory" and because "the motion for a new trial was untimely, the trial court lacked authority to order a new trial"); *Metz v. Sarandos*, 91 Wn.App. 357, 360, 957 P.2d 795 (1998) (where reconsideration was sought 13 days after dismissal the "trial court had no discretionary authority to extend the time period for filing").

.

Likewise, because plaintiff's untimely reconsideration motion did not extend the time for an appeal of the underlying December 23, 2011, dismissal order, her March 27, 2012, notice of appeal for that judgment was filed over <u>three months</u> too late. *See* 3/27/12 Notice of Appeal, Petition. Hence under RAP 5.2 there is no appellate jurisdiction to review that dismissal judgment. Though there is jurisdiction over the order denying reconsideration, denial of that untimely motion was required by CR 59(b).

B. Because County's CR 12(b)(6) Motion Was Based on the Complaint, Records Cited Therein, and Plaintiff's Own Filings, It Did Not Become a CR 56 Motion

Under CR 12(b)(6), "where it is clear from the complaint that the allegations set forth do not support a claim, dismissal is proper." *Berge v. Gorton*, 88 Wn.2d 756, 759, 567 P.2d 187 (1977). On appeal, "[w]hether dismissal was appropriate under CR 12(b)(6) is a question of law that we review de novo." *San Juan County v. No New Gas Tax*, 160 Wn.2d 141, 164, 157 P.3d 831 (2007). *See also Regan v. McLachlan*, 163 Wn.App. 171, 177, 257 P.3d 1122 (2011). In making this analysis the court examines the complaint and takes "judicial notice of matters of public record" such as court "proceedings." See Berge, 88 Wn. 2d at 763. See also Birnbaum v. Pierce County, 167 Wn.App. 728, 732, 274 P.3d 1070, rev. denied 175 Wn.2d 1018 (2012) (under CR 12(b)(6) the Court "may also consider documents whose contents are alleged in the complaint"); Rodriguez, 144 Wn.App. at 725-26 ("[d]ocuments whose contents are alleged in a complaint but which are not physically attached to the pleading may also be considered in ruling on a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss"); *Tellabs, Inc.* v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd, 551 U.S. 308, 322 (2007) (courts must consider the complaint in its entirety, as well as other sources courts ordinarily examine when ruling on Rule 12(b)(6) motions to dismiss, in particular, documents incorporated into the complaint by reference, and matters of which a court may take judicial notice"); ER 201(f) ("Judicial notice may be taken at any stage"). In so doing a "court is not required to accept the complaint's legal conclusions as true," Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp., 144 Wn. App. 709, 717-18, 189 P.3d 168 (2008); see also Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply System, 109 Wn. 2d 107, 120-21, 744 P. 2d 1032 (1987) (same), and will ignore conclusory factual allegations if they "do not reasonably follow from his description of what happened, or if these allegations are contradicted by the description itself." 5 C. Wright & A. Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 1357, at 597 (1969).

,

Plaintiff claims the Superior Court "looked outside the complaint and accepted declarations of the defendants, while simultaneously staying discovery" when it should have converted the motion into one for summary judgment under CR 56(f). AB 8. However, documents referred to in a complaint and materials of which a Court takes judicial notice are not "outside the pleadings and [are] properly considered" under CR 12(b)(6)), see Rodriguez, 144 Wn.App. at 725-26, so their consideration does not convert a CR 12 motion into a CR 56 motion. See Haberman, 109 Wn.2d at 121 (though "court considered matters extraneous to the complaints, it ruled as a matter of law that plaintiffs and intervenors had not stated a claim and did not make any determination of facts in dispute" so "standard of review remains that required by CR 12(b)(6)"); Ortblad v. State, 85 Wn.2d 109, 111, 530 P.2d 635 (1975) (CR 12(b)(6) motion not converted since "basic operative facts are undisputed and the core issue is one of law"); Judy v. Hanford Environmental Health Foundation, 106 Wn.App. 26, 34, 22 P.3d 810 (2001) (same).

Second, plaintiff nowhere cites where in the record the court ever "looked" to any "declaration <u>of the defendants</u>" for dismissal. AB 8-10 (emphasis added). *See also* RAP 10.3(a)(6) (requiring "references to relevant parts of the record"); RAP 10.4(f) (requiring specific references to record); *In re Estate of Lint*, 135 Wn.2d 518, 531-32, 957 P.2d 755 (1998)

(party must "cite to the record to support" argument). Her only specific factual assertion on the issue, again made without any reference to the record, is her claim the County "asserted during <u>oral argument</u> that it did not possess any of the requested records at the time of the request" and she should have been allowed discovery to test that assertion. AB 9-10, 37-38 (emphasis added). However, an attorney's oral argument is not "evidence." *See e.g. Convention Center Coalition v. City of Seattle*, 107 Wn.2d 370, 379, 730 P.2d 636 (1986); WPI 1.02. Indeed, the superior court expressly and repeatedly noted counsel's statement at issue "really makes no difference" to dismissal. *See* 12/23/11 VRP at 96, 103. *C.f. Forbes v. City of Gold Bar*, 171 Wn.App. 857, 288 P.3d 384 (2012) (PRA case dismissed where city came into possession of private documents only while responding to record request); *discussion infra* at 23-26. In any case, the complaint and plaintiff's filings³ confirm the County in fact <u>did not</u> have access to -- or even use as attorney work product -- the requested

³ <u>Plaintiffs</u> complaint and filings specifically established the documents at issue were records from the "personal cell phone" of the prosecutor, "not his county issued telephone," and had to be "obtained from the service provider" of the official. *See* CP 18-19 n. 3, 23, 30, 171, 173, 205, 207. *See also* CP 10-11 (order striking from pleadings "the private telephone number of the elected prosecutor"). Further, the face of her complaint expressly cites documents without comment or challenge that also established the County did not possess these records prior to her request. *See* CP 16; *Berge*, 88 Wn.2d at 764 (accepting on CR 12(b)(6) motion the truth of attorney general's letter because it was "quoted in the complaint without comment or challenge"). *See also* CP 444-46; Supp. CP 597-98. Finally, plaintiffs opposition brief to the Superior Court expressly admitted the County in response to her request only "possessed the 861 records <u>because [Prosecutor]</u> Lindquist authorized their release" in redacted form. Supp. CP 570 (emphasis added).

private documents until after the request.

Third, under CR 26(c)(1) the "court clearly had the discretion to stay discovery until after the CR 12(b)(6) hearing," and such a stay is "harm-less" when the case later is properly dismissed. *See Quinn Const. Co., L.L.C. v. King Cy Fire Protection Dist. No. 26,* 111 Wn.App. 19, 33, 44 P.3d 865 (2002). *See also Ortblad,* 85 Wn.2d at 111 ("No purpose would exist for ... granting an opportunity to present factual evidence pertinent under CR 56 if whatever might be proven would be immaterial"); *City of Moses Lake v. Grant Cy,* 39 Wn.App. 256, 259, 693 P.2d 140 (1984) (same); *Gross v. Sunding,* 139 Wn.App. 54, 68, 161 P.3d 380 (2007) (even CR 56(f) does not allow a continuance so as to conduct discovery if "the desired evidence will not raise a genuine issue of material fact"). Plaintiff cites no authority otherwise. *See* RAP 10.3(a)(6). Hence her arguments over CR 12(b)(6), CR 56, and discovery, AB 8-10, 37, are without merit.

C. PRA Does Not Apply to an Official's Personal Records of His Private Telephone

The threshold issue in any PRA case is whether the requested documents are "public records" and therefore whether the PRA has any application. *See Smith v. Okanogan County*, 100 Wn.App. 7, 16, 994 P.2d 857 (2000) ("The Act applies only to public records" and the demand there was "not a request for 'public records'"); *Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn. App. 403, 409, 960 P.2d 447 (1998), rev. denied, 137 Wn.2d 1012 (1999) ("As a threshold matter, ... the act only applies when public records have been requested"). Though plaintiff claims O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 240 P.3d 1149 (2010), "squarely rejected" the principle that "personally-paid for communication devices" are not subject to the PRA, AB 22, that case did not concern personal records generated as a result of an official's use of his own private property -- much less records generated and kept only by an official's privately contracted service provider. O'Neill instead dealt only with a document that was apparently originally contained in a City email account, used for a government purpose by discussing its contents at a city council meeting, and thereafter manipulated on an official's private home computer. See 170 Wn.2d at 142. Further, even as to what was originally a City document, O'Neill's bare majority never reached constitutional and privacy issues about compelling production from the owner of the private device because it assumed consent to release. See 170 Wn.2d at 150 n. 4. Because O'Neill nowhere held private records like those here are "public records," it cannot help plaintiff overcome her threshold burden of proving the PRA applies.

•

1. <u>Records Made By an Official's Private Service Provider Are</u> <u>Not a "Writing Prepared, Owned, Used, or Retained By" His</u> <u>Agency</u>

Under RCW 42.56.010(2), a "public record" is "any writing prepared,

owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency" Hence, all three requirements -- *i.e.* (1) a "writing;" (2) "containing information relating to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary function;" (3) that is "prepared, owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency" -- must be satisfied for a record to be "public." Dragonslayer, Inc. v. Wash. State Gambling Comm'n, 139 Wn.App. 433, 444, 161 P.3d 428 (2007). The records demanded here were not work related "writings" so as to be "information relating to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary function." Likewise, at the time of the request, the personal records of the official at issue -- whether or not "work related" or made during "public hours" -- are shown by the complaint, the documents to which it refers, plaintiffs' own submissions to the court's file and judicial notice, to have been "prepared" instead by the employee's private third party service provider. Hence, they were never "owned, used, or retained by any state or local agency" as also required for a public record. See CP 16, 331. See also https://videos.verizonwireless.com/Understanding-Your-Paper-Bill/v/D0R35AR0/.4

•

⁴ Under ER 201, the Court can take judicial notice of websites. *See e.g. Pudmaroff v. Allen*, 138 Wn.2d 55, 65 n. 5, 977 P.2d 574 (1999) (judicial notice of statistical data contained in a Washington Traffic Safety Commission research website); *Banks v. County of Allegheny*, 568 F.Supp.2d 579, 585 n. 3 (W.D.Pa. 2008) (citing website on MRSA treatment to grant Rule 12(b)(6) motion).

The complaint asserts as decisive that the elected Prosecutor -- like the vast majority of governmental employees -- used his personal telephone to discuss work. However, records of the service provider for that telephone are not "writings" even of the official -- much less of his agency employer. In *Denver Post Corp. v. Ritter*, 255 P.3d 1083 (Col. 2011), a Colorado Open Records Act (hereinafter "CORA") suit was dismissed for failure to state a claim where a newspaper requested the Governor's personal cell phone records. Similar to the PRA, a "public record" under CORA is a "writing (1) made, maintained, or kept by the state, an agency, or political subdivision of the state, (2) for use in the performance of public functions or that are involved in the receipt and spending of public money." *Id.* at 1090. The Colorado Supreme Court refused to find the Governor had "made the phone records" simply by "participat[ing] in the phone calls that resulted in the billing statement." *Id.* at 1091 (emphasis added). That state's highest court explained:

٠

In common parlance, one does not "make" a "writing" merely by performing acts that a private third party memorializes in a writing it makes. According to the Post's theory, any writing memorializing an event in which a public official participates would constitute a "writing made ... by the state." However, to make a "writing" pursuant to CORA, the Governor must have created or fashioned or directed creation or fashioning of the cell phone bills. As the court of appeals aptly observed, the carrier not the Governor created the phone bills. "[The Post] has requested the records that memorialize the fact that the conversations occurred, which are created and generated only by the service provider."

•

Id. at 1091. *See also West v. Thurston County*, 168 Wn.App. 162, 183, 275 P.3d 1200 (2012) (billing records of county's retained counsel were not public records because records were not owned, possessed, used, or retained by the county); AGO 1989 No. 11, at 4 ("where the registrar prepares, maintains, and retains the records, and where the county has only a right of inspection, we cannot say that the county "owns" the records in any meaningful sense").

Indeed, if memorialization by non-governmental third parties of even official conversations were to constitute a "public record," such a broad interpretation would encompass news reporters' notes of statements made by government employees, quotes of government officials printed in newspapers, notes of statements made by government employees taken by opposing private counsel in litigation, and notes of comments made by a government official taken by a private citizen at a community meeting. Likewise, billing statements of any constituent who called a government employee would become a public record, as would messages from government employees left on private voice mail systems of third parties. Records of an official's privately paid third party service provider simply are not "prepared" by the official who owns the personal private telephone -- much less "by any state or local agency" as RCW 42.56.010(2) requires.

2. <u>Under PRA Elected Official Is Neither an "Office" nor "Agen-</u> <u>cy"</u>

The PRA authorizes suits only against an "agency" for its failure to disclose "public records" -- not for an official's refusal to provide his private records. See e.g. RCW 42.56.010(1), (3); RCW 42.56.520; RCW 42.56.550. Plaintiff argues the Prosecutor "is the Office" and therefore the County "owned" his records because he "is an agent of the County." AB 26, 29-34. Not only was this argument not raised until reconsideration,⁵ but plaintiff's proposed interpretation of "agency" as synonymous with an "official" is nowhere found in the plain text of the definition of "agency" in RCW 42.56.010(1). See Appendix. Our courts hold it is the Legislature's role to rewrite a statute rather than that of the court. Sheehan v. Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority, 155 Wn.2d 790, 816, 123 P.3d 88 (2005). Accordingly, when Nast v. Michels, 107 Wn.2d 300, 730 P.2d 54 (1986), applied the PRA's definitional language so as to determine to whom it applied, this Court held -- relying in part upon the

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